
PLANNING COMMITTEE

26 November 2018

Dear Councillor

A meeting of the Planning Committee will be held in Committee Room 1 - Marmion 
House on Tuesday, 4th December, 2018 at 6.00 pm. Members of the Committee are 
requested to attend.

Yours faithfully

Chief Executive

A G E N D A

NON CONFIDENTIAL

1 Apologies for Absence 

2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 3 - 8)

3 Declarations of Interest 

N0N-CONFIDENTIAL



To receive any declarations of Members’ interests (pecuniary and non-
pecuniary) in any matters which are to be considered at this meeting.

When Members are declaring a pecuniary or non-pecuniary interest in 
respect of which they have dispensation, they should specify the nature of 
such interest.  Members should leave the room if they have a pecuniary or 
non-pecuniary interest in respect of which they do not have a dispensation.  

4 Schedule of Applications (Pages 9 - 36)

(Report of the Assistant Director - Regeneration & Growth)

People who have a disability and who would like to attend the meeting should contact 
Democratic Services on 01827 709264 or e-mail committees@tamworth.gov.uk 
preferably 24 hours prior to the meeting.  We can then endeavour to ensure that any 
particular requirements you may have are catered for.

To Councillors: M Oates, S Claymore, M Bailey, J Chesworth, C Cooke, R Ford, T Jay, 
K Norchi, J Oates, S Peaple, P Standen, M Summers and P Thurgood



1 

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE
PLANNING COMMITTEE
HELD ON 2nd OCTOBER 2018

PRESENT: Councillor M Oates (Chair), Councillors S Claymore (Vice-Chair), 
M Bailey, J Chesworth, C Cooke, R Ford, K Norchi, J Oates, 
S Peaple, P Standen, M Summers and P Thurgood

The following officers were present: Matthew Bowers (Assistant Director Growth 
& Regeneration), Andrew Collinson (Senior Planning Officer) and Ryan Keyte 
(Head of Legal & Democratic Services)

16 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor T Jay.

17 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

The minutes of the meeting held on 4th September 2018 were approved and 
signed as a correct record.

(Moved by Councillor M Summers and seconded by Councillor J Chesworth)

18 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no Declarations of Interest.

19 SCHEDULE OF APPLICATIONS 

Report of Assistant Director - Growth and Regeneration

Application Number 0174/2018

Development Reserved Matters application for access road 
from Ventura Park Road / Meadow
Road Roundabout

Location Land at Dunstall Farm, Dunstall Lane / Ventura 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



Planning Committee 2 October 2018

2

Park Road / Meadow Road,
Tamworth

Resolved Approved subject to conditions and the 
following informative:

It could be necessary for a Traffic Regulation 
Order to restrict parking on the access road. 
The applicant is advised to contact 
Staffordshire County Council 
(clear.streets@stafforshire.gov.uk) in order to 
discuss the options available for adoption and 
enforcement of Traffic Regulation Orders

(Moved by Councillor J Oates and seconded by Councillor C Cooke)

Application Number 0249/2018

Development Reserved Matters application for the erection 
of 405 residential units forming the first
phase, including associated roads/driveways, 
landscaping and play areas

Location Land at Dunstall Farm, Dunstall Lane / Ventura 
Park Road / Meadow Road,
Tamworth

Mr M Elliot (Agent for the Applicant) spoke on this item.

Resolved Approved subject to the conditions set out in 
the report and the two following additional 
conditions:

Notwithstanding the submitted landscaping 
scheme no dwelling shall be occupied until 
details of species of trees which are proposed 
to be located within or adjacent to areas to be 
put forward for adoption have first been 
submitted and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and 
in the visual interests of the area in accordance 
with policy SU2 and EN5 of the adopted 
Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031.

Prior to the first occupation of any permitted 
dwelling, visibility splays for the internal road 
layout shall be provided in accordance with the 

Page 4



Planning Committee 2 October 2018

3

approved plans 0076 20 Rev A Visibility Splays 
Sheet 2 and 0076 21 Rev A Visibility Splays 
Sheet 3 and shall thereafter be retained at all 
times for their designated purposes.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and 
in the visual interests of the area in accordance 
with policy SU2 and EN5 of the adopted 
Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031.

(Moved by Councillor J Oates and seconded by Councillor S Claymore)

Application Number 0309/2018

Development Reserved Matters application for earthworks / 
engineering operations associated
with remodelling the existing flood plain in 
relation to planning permission 0308/2016

Location Land at Dunstall Farm, Dunstall Lane / Ventura 
Park Road / Meadow Road, Tamworth

Resolved Approved subject to conditions

(Moved by Councillor S Claymore and seconded by Councillor M Summers)

Application Number 0311/2018

Development 11 new dwellings (Number 35 Wiggington Road 
to be demolished)

Location 35 Wiggington Road, Tamworth, Staffordshire, 
B79 8RL

Mr L Wiggins (Agent for the Applicant) spoke on this item.

Resolved That the application be refused for the following 
reasons:

The proposed housing mix of the development, 
four 2 bedroomed, four 3 bedroomed and three 
4 bedroomed properties, would be contrary to 
policy HG5 Housing Mix of the adopted Local 
Plan 2006-2031.

(Moved by Councillor P Standen and seconded by Councillor S Peaple)

Issue papers

Page 5



Planning Committee 2 October 2018

4

Pre Application Ref 0241/2018

Development Outline application for up to 210 dwellings, 
public open space, landscaping,
sustainable urban drainage and associated 
infrastructure. All matters reserved
except access. (Access leads onto development 
all dwellings in Lichfield DC
administrative area)

Location Land off Browns Lane, Tamworth

Resolved That the Committee noted the item and raised 
the following issues:

1. Huge concern relating to Highway 
capacity.

2. Members asked the applicant to consider 
an alternative access from Wigginton 
Road to the west of the development.

3. The area is heavily used by pedestrian 
and school children walking to school 
leading to concerns about highway 
safety.

4. The crossroads at Wigginton Road are 
treacherous.

5. The development will have a huge impact 
onto the Fountains Lane junction 
impacting on congestion.

6. The piecemeal consideration of 
applications is of concern and a more co-
ordinated approach is required in terms of 
education, health and highways.

7. The area requires major infrastructure 
improvements.

8. The proposed access is on a dangerous 
bend.

Application number 0412/2018

Development Erection of Primary School

Location Land off South of Ashby Road, Tamworth

Resolved That the Committee noted the item and raised 
the following issues:

1. Concern about children being dropped off 
by car with no dedicated parking facilities 

Page 6



Planning Committee 2 October 2018

5

– further discussion should be had with 
highways department. Could dedicated 
drop off points be identified in the 
certainty that some children will be 
dropped off despite every encouragement 
being made to make them walk to school

2. Option of providing a one way route 
through the front of the site with an exit 
onto the estate road should be 
investigated.

3. Provision should be made for coach 
parking – possibility that a coach pick up 
point could be provided.

4. Members were disappointed that there 
was little attempt to resolve potential 
parking problems given concerns 
expressed previously on similar 
developments.

5. Concern was raised in terms of the 
expansion opportunity for the school as 
there was potential development in the 
vicinity of the site yet limited space to 
expand.

6. Rather than single form entry – strategic 
thinking was required for future primary 
education thinking to the north of the 
Borough.   

Chair 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

4th December 2018 
 
 
 

SCHEDULE OF APPLICATIONS 
 
 
 
 

REPORT OF ASSISTANT DIRECTOR - GROWTH & REGENERATION 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



 
 

BOROUGH OF TAMWORTH 
          

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
          

SCHEDULE OF APPLICATIONS 
          

4th December 2018 

          
          
  A  Reports for Consideration 2   
          
  B  Variations to approved applications   0   
          
  C  Appeals received  0   
          
  D  Appeal decisions  0   
          
  E  Issues Papers   0   
          
  F  Footpath diversion applications   0   
          
          
          
          
          
          
          
          

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
          

 
          
       
          
         
          
  All other documents referred to in individual reports   
          
          
          
          
          
 
          

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 10



 
 

SUMMARY OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS FOR DETERMINATION 
 
Part A   Applications Received 
 
Application Number:  0331/2018 
 
Development:  Erection of 40 dwellings [re-plan of previously approved development 0435/2015] 
 
Location:  Anker Valley, Ashby Road, Tamworth 
 
Recommendation 1. Approval subject to the conditions outlined below and the entering into a 

suitable Section 106 Agreement in accordance with the requirements outlined 
in this report.  
2. If the Section 106 Agreement has not been signed before the expiration of 
any agreed extension of time then powers are delegated to Officers to refuse 
permission based on the unacceptability of the development without the 
required contributions and undertakings as outlined in this report. 

………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
. 
Application Number:  0480/2018 
 
Development:  11 new dwellings (Number 35 Wiggington Road to be demolished) 
 
Location:  35 Wiggington Road, Tamworth, Staffordshire, B79 8RL 
 
Recommendation Approve subject to conditions 
………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
. 
 

Page 11



 
Application Number:  0331/2018 
 
Development:  Erection of 40 dwellings [re-plan of previously approved development 

0435/2015] 
 
Location:  Anker Valley, Ashby Road, Tamworth 
 

 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 On the 1st April 2015 outline permission was granted for the principle of developing the site for up to 

535 dwellings. A Section 106 Agreement secured the provision of 20% affordable dwellings on the 
site, the housing mix, sports facilities contribution, education contribution (including the provision of 
land for or delivery of a primary school on the site), and highway contributions (reference 
0105/2014).  

 
1.2 On the 27th April 2016 an approval of reserved matters application for 535 dwellings along with 

associated infrastructure was granted permission (0435/2015). This application proposes to 
increase the numbers to the south part of the site by replacing 20 approved dwellings with 40 
dwellings. There are changes to the positions of the dwellings but the overall infrastructure, 
including main access, open space, school position, pathways and retained trees remains as shown 
on the original approved layout. 

 
1.3 Approximately half of the units 18 dwellings will be located in Character Area CA3 (Riverside 

Frontage). The design principles have already established by the original reserved matters have 
been taken into account with all properties looking outwards towards the open space, flood 
attenuation features and flood plain. The mass of the dwellings is similar to the approved layout 
which is typically 2 storey with some of the properties being 2 and ½ storey. 

  
1.4 The remaining 22 dwellings fall within the Core Housing Area (CA2) and incorporate existing 

approved links, which are overlooked by housing frontages and dual aspect dwellings on the corner 
to ensure active frontages.  
 

1.5 The Anker Valley site comprises 32.82 ha of mainly agricultural land to the north east of Tamworth 
town centre. The site is bound to the north by Ashby Road, with the agricultural land at Arkall Farm 
beyond, and to the west by the Birmingham to Derby railway line, beyond which lies the 
1960s/1970s Perrycrofts estate. Beyond the eastern boundary of the site lie agricultural fields 
towards Amington Hall and its conservation area, the south eastern boundary follows the River 
Anker with the Warwickshire Moor Local Nature Reserve beyond. The southern boundary of the site 
falls short of the railway station, with a single agricultural field separating the site from the railway 
station, with the Station Fields Mobile Home Park located on the opposite side of the West Coast 
Mainline railway. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 12



 
Location Plan 

Drain

D
ra

in

Dra
in

R
iv

er
 A

nk
er

Drain

Spring

FARM
 C

LO
SE

FARM CLOSEH
E

N
E

LY
 C

LO
S

E

 
 
2. Policies 
 
2.1 Local Plan Policies  
 

SS1  - The Spatial Strategy for Tamworth 
SS2 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
HG1 – Housing  
HG2 – Sustainable Urban Extensions 
HG4 – Affordable Housing 
HG5 – Housing Mix 
HG6 – Housing Density 
EN4 – Protecting and Enhancing Biodiversity 
EN5 – Design and New Development 
SU1 - Sustainable Transport Network 
SU2 – Delivering Sustainable Transport 
SU4 - Flood Risk and Water Management 
SU5 – Pollution, Ground Conditions and Minerals and Soils 
IM1 – Infrastructure and Developer Contributions 
Appendix A – Housing Trajectory 
Appendix C – Car Parking Standard 

 
3. Relevant Site History 

 
0105/2014: Development of up to 535 dwellings, primary school, open space, landscaping, 
balancing ponds, access, footpaths, cycleways and associated infrastructure (all existing structures 
demolished) -  Approved subject to conditions and a Section 106 Agreement 1st April 2015 
 
0435/2015: Development of 535 dwellings, open space, landscaping, balancing ponds, access, 
footpath, cycleways and associated infrastructure - Approved subject to conditions 27th April 2016 
 
0042/2017 Substitution of 87 dwellings from Bellway Homes to Ashberry – Approved 25th April 2017 
 
 

Page 13



3. Consultation Responses 
 
3.1 Whilst every effort has been made to accurately summarise the responses received, full copies of 

the representations received are available to view at www.tamworth.gov.uk. 
 
3.2 Staffordshire County Council - Lead Local Flood Authority 
 

No objection  
 
3.3 Staffordshire County Council Highways  
 

No objections subject to conditions requiring the provision of the parking and turning areas for the 
individual dwellings. 

 
3.4 Staffordshire County Council Archaeology 
 

No objection same as 0435/2015 
 
3.5 Staffordshire County Council Public Rights of Way 
 

No objection 
 
3.6 Staffordshire County Council Ecology 
 

No objection 
 
3.7 Staffordshire Fire & Rescue  
 

No objection 
 
3.8 Sports England 
 

No objections subject to additional demand in respect of sports facilities. 
 
3.9 Canal and Rivers Trust 
 

No objection 
 
3.10 Network Rail 
 

No objection  
 
3.11 Tamworth Borough Council – Tree Officer 
 

No objections 
 
3.12 Tamworth Borough Council – Environmental Health 
 

No objections 
 
3.13 Tamworth Borough Council – Refuse collection 
 

No objection 
 
3.14 Tamworth Borough Council – Development Plan 
 
 No objection to the development 
 
3.15 Highways England 
 

No objection 
 
3.16 Historic England  

Page 14



 
No objection 

 
3.17 Natural England 
 

No objection 
 
3.18 Severn Trent Water 
 

No objection 
 
3.19 Staffordshire Police Architectural Liaison Officer 
 

No objection 
 
3.20 Ramblers Association  
 

No objection 
 

The consultation responses comments are précised if conditions are proposed these are included 
within the conditions at the end of the report unless stated otherwise. 

 
4. Additional Representations 
 
4.1 As part of the consultation process adjacent residents were notified and a press notice and site 

notices were erected. Whilst every effort has been made to accurately summarise the responses 
received, full copies of the representations received are available to view at www.tamworth.gov.uk. 
Two objections have been received making the following points in respect of the application: 
 Air and noise pollution will increase due to the increase in traffic. 
 Volume of traffic allow along Ashby Road is huge and slow moving. 
 Increase risk of accidents. 
 No significant improvements to transport infrastructure. 
 No coordinated approach to cycling and walking. 
 Inadequate parking provision. 
 Lack of school places. 
 Insufficient capacity at doctors. 
 The housing is supposed to be affordable, the price of the dwellings are huge. 
 Money should be reinvested into Town Centre. 
 Development should have links towards Tamworth Train station. 
 Houses should be able to be adapted to allow for solar panels. 

 
5. Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
5.1 Due regard, where relevant, has been taken to the Tamworth Borough Council’s equality duty as 

contained within the Equalities Act 2010. The authority has had due regard to the public sector 
equality duty (PSED).  Under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, a public authority must in the 
exercised of its functions, have due regard to the interests and needs of those sharing the protected 
characteristics under the Act, such as age, gender, disability and race. This proposal has no impact 
on such protected characteristics. 

 
5.2 There may be implications under Article 8 and Article 1 of the First Protocol of the Human Rights 

Act, regarding the right of respect for a person’s private and family life and home, and to the 
peaceful enjoyment of possessions.  However, these issues have been taken into account in the 
determination of this application. 

 
6. Planning Considerations 
 
6.1 The key issues to be considered at this stage are  
 

 Principle 
 Layout 
 Access and Highway Capacity 

Page 15



 Appearance and Scale 
 Air Quality 
 Section 106 requirements 

 
6.1 Principle 
 
6.1.1 The Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031 (LP) was adopted in February 2016 and under policy HG2 

Sustainable Urban Extensions it states that the development will provide at least 535 new dwellings. 
This application is a full planning application and as such the first issue to consider is whether the 
principle of residential development is acceptable. The site is within an allocated housing site and 
therefore the principle of the use is acceptable for residential development subject to the other 
considerations detailed below.  

 
6.2 Layout 
 
6.2.1 The overall layout of the development has evolved following the approval of the two points of 

vehicular access and the main site access feeds in to a main spine road which meanders through 
the development with dwellings on either side to the southern end of the site and then returns to 
form a loop road around the site. The provision of a ‘loop road’ through the site will allow for a good 
degree of legibility through the site and provide alternative routes for vehicles, which helps to 
provide permeability and options for movement through the site. The proposed alterations to the 
scheme have not altered this layout and the proposal remains the same in turns of road loops and 
pedestrian routes.  
 

6.2.2 Originally, the residential areas of the site were designed and laid out through the creation of 4 
different character areas, which centred round different parts of the site. The ‘Avenue’ character 
area generally follows the main spine road though the site from Ashby Road down to the southern 
extent of the site. The ‘Core Housing’ area represents the central and more densely developed part 
of the site. The ‘Riverside Frontage’ sees the transition of the site to the river, and the ‘Rural Villas’ 
character area is defined by its relationship with the agricultural open space beyond the site to the 
north and east. This proposal includes dwellings in both ‘the Avenue’ and the ‘Riverside Frontage’ 
area. The layout still accords to the principle in respect of these two areas.     

 
6.2.3 The Avenue provides for the following elements:   
 

 Visual connections with the east and western areas of the site;  
 A varied but generally higher residential densities along the full length of the spine road;  
 Use of predominantly 2 storey dwellings;  
 Linear building lines with minimal setbacks;  
 Use of symmetry and balanced street elevations which emphasise building lines;  
 A formal character with a distinctive and legible landscape theme;  
 Structured street tree planting along the spine road;  
 Provision of ‘key spaces’ or junctures which address internal views, provide focal points and 

sub-divide the route; and  
 
6.2.4 The Riverside Frontage is mainly influenced by the River Anker Valley, the associated flood zone 

and the proposed Riverside Park and is comprised of the following: 
 

 Lower lying development, with rising urban form to the west and visual connections to the 
wider landscape to the east and the townscape of Tamworth to the south;  

 A soft development edge and a rural character;  
 A degree of variation in the building line;  
 Provision of 2 and 2.5 storey dwellings;  
 Lanes which overlook the riverside park along the River Anker;  
 A movement framework which provides convenient access to the open countryside north of 

the site and firm connections to the new Community Hub to the north via green links;  
 Architectural influences from smaller local villages that display the Staffordshire vernacular; 

and  
 Housing frontages that provide natural surveillance of public open spaces.  
 

6.2.5 In terms of the individual dwellings, the spaces provided between them varies around the site but 
are generally considered to be appropriate and will ensure that private amenity spaces are provided 

Page 16



and overlooking and indivisibility is minimised as far as possible. The garden sizes are considered to 
be proportionate to the range of house types they will serve and the detached garages where 
proposed are set back from the street-scene which will afford the dwellings more prominence and 
also provide for well defined spaces in-between the dwellings and aid in creating the feeling of 
space within the more densely developed areas. The total floor area of the approved 20 dwellings is 
similar to that of the proposed 40 dwellings. In terms of massing the replacement dwellings are 
similar in massing and scale as the approved 20 dwellings. Overall, the density of the scheme is still 
within the original masterplan which indicated that the development would achieve 30 dwellings per 
hectare.    

 
6.2.6 The proposals are considered to be a consistent with the original approved scheme and layout. The 

quality of the layout overall is considered to be acceptable and accord with the overarching 
principles of providing good design and accord with the aims of LP Policies HG2, HG6 and EN5. 
 

6.2.7 Local Plan policy HG5 (Housing Mix) sets out the required mix of sizes for all residential 
development as 4% 1 bedroom units, 42% 2 bedroom units, 39% 3 bedroom units, and 15% 4 
bedroom units. As the proposed development forms part of a larger existing permitted development, 
The proposal would seek to meet this mix on its own, however the proposed re-plan actually moves 
the overall development significantly towards a policy compliant mix, reducing the larger 4 bedroom 
properties and increasing the 2 and 3 bedroomed properties. Having reviewed the existing approved 
mix, at appears that a significant number of 4 bedroom units were included leading to a mix that was 
skewed towards bigger properties. The proposed re-plan would see the loss of 2 no. 3 bedroom 
units and 18 no. 4 bedroom units and a gain of 22 no. 2 bedroom units and 18 no. 3 bedroom units. 
The table below shows the mix that was approved for the development on the original approval of 
reserved matters. This proposed change would result in the overall number of dwellings on site 
increasing to 555 and would see a 4% decrease in the number of 4 bedroom units and a 3% and 
2% increase in 2 and 3 bedroom units respectively. The proposed change would therefore lead to 
the overall mix moving towards the mix set out in policy HG5.  
 
 
Size of 
properties 

Overall approved 
mix (20 dwellings) 

Overall proposed mix 
(40 dwellings)  

Overall approved 
scheme 

Overall 
proposed mix 

1 bedrooms 0 0 8 (1.5%) 8 (1%) 
2 bedrooms 0 22 144 (27%) 167 (30%) 
3 bedrooms 2 18 179 (33%) 195 (35%) 
4 bedrooms  18 0 204 (38%) 185 (33%) 
 20 dwellings 40 dwellings 535 dwellings 555 dwellings 

 
 
6.3 Access and Highway Capacity 
 
6.3.1 The general disposition of the road network is considered to provide vehicular, pedestrian and cycle 

routes within the development are generally logical, safe and link to key internal areas such as the 
community hub and park, footbridge, riverside park and the wider public footpath network.  

 
6.3.2 Within the site the proposed parking areas for the dwellings both individually and for the proposed 

parking courts provide a variety of surfacing materials to reduce the impact of large parking areas 
and where possible trees and shrub planting has been provided.  

 
6.3.3 Generally the development is proposed with parking standards to meet those contained within the 

LP; and provides 2 for two bed properties and a minimum of 2 for dwellings over three bedrooms. 
Indeed the majority of dwellings containing 4 or more bedrooms are provided with minimum of two 
spaces and a garage.   

 
6.3.4 The capacity of this corridor is key to the delivery of new housing to the north of Tamworth, and the 

additional 20 dwellings has been carefully considered by the County Highway Authority which is set 
out above within their consultation response. It is considered that the transport package proposed 
by the applicant from the original application which includes a pedestrian footbridge / cycleway over 
the Derby to Birmingham railway line and required financial contributions towards the Upper 
Gungate corridor improvements, which included measures to increase the number of people 
travelling by bus, rail, cycle and walking in order to lower the percentage of car driver trips would 
coupled with additional funding as detailed above would limit the significant impacts of the 

Page 17



development on the highway network. Monies for these works has already been provided by the 
applicant, with the exception of a £201k on the occupation of the 250th dwelling.  

 
6.3.5 The submitted transport assessment demonstrates that the trip generation associated with the net 

additional 20 dwellings would not be significant in terms of already accepted traffic volumes for the 
previously agreed development (reference 0105/2014 & 0435/2015). Updated capacity assessment 
for the site access junctions confirm that both would operate within capacity during the previously 
agreed future years. It is also considered that the previously agreed development will contribute 
financially to local junction and the Upper Gungate Corridor improvements. Therefore, subject to 
conditions and tying the original obligations in respect of highway improvements the proposal would 
not have a detrimental impact on the highway network. As such the proposed development is 
considered to comply with Policy HG2 of the Local Plan and the provisions of the NPPF in so far as 
the impact of the development on the highway network would not be severe.   

 
6.4 Appearance and Scale 
 
6.4.1 The dwellings proposed are of a suburban design, with small variations throughout the defined 

character areas (as outlined above). The adjacent residential developments of the Borough have 
little architectural expression with which to guide the design of the development and consequently, 
the proposed dwellings will have to create its own character and identity.  

 
6.4.2 The individual dwellings proposed are pleasant, with a variety of detailing and individual elements of 

design. This includes the use of simple projections of structure such as bay windows and small 
gables and variations to the frontage design s to achieve relief to the dwellings elevations which is 
aided by the provision of door and window reveals. The building materials and details will vary in 
different areas of the site however an overall pallet of primarily red brick will tie the development 
together and provide visual variation.  

 
6.4.4 The proposed amendments accord to agreed design code, and the urban style within the Avenue 

and River Frontage areas has been echoed in the amended design. In terms of scale the dwellings 
are considered to be appropriate.  The proposal provides “on plot” landscaping, which is consistent 
with the original layout and provides a well-designed high quality layout. 

 
6.5 Air Quality 

 
6.5.1 An objector has pointed out the proposed would have an impact on Air Quality. The main influence 

on local air quality in the area is likely to be the emissions from local road transport. It is noted that 
the site is in very close proximity to the Birmingham to Derby railway line, however, the detailed 
assessment of these emissions is not considered appropriate when considering the guidance 
provided by DEFRA due to the low background NO2 concentrations of the site. The assessment 
considers the impact of the construction phase of the development on nearby residential properties. 
The Environmental Protection team note that the impact of the construction phase would be 
adequately mitigated against providing the measures outlined within the original Environmental 
Statement are implemented. Using the traffic modelling and air quality dispersion models the 
development is expected to cause only a negligible increase in air pollutants at sensitive receptors 
along the road network.  

 
6.6 Section 106 Contributions 
 
6.6.1 In summary the required Section 106 Contributions relate to the following: 
 

 The provision of 20% affordable homes within on the site. Four within the site and four within the 
larger Anker Valley site. 

 Highways – Travel Plan 
 Education contributions 
 Community Infrastructure Levy contributions. 
 

6.6.2 It is considered that the above Section 106 Agreement heads of terms appropriately address the 
issues identified in the report. As per the requirement of Regulation 122 of The Community 
Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (CIL) it is considered that the requirements are necessary in 
order to make the development acceptable in planning terms; are directly related to the 

Page 18



development; and are fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development as 
determined though the consultations undertaken. 

 
6.6.3 Affordable Housing - The proposal increases the requirement for affordable housing by 4 additional 

units. These additional units have been indicated in the layout and therefore the proposal conforms 
to policy HG4. As a standalone development it requires 8 affordable homes in total the remaining 4 
units are provided within the wider site, this will have to be secured through the legal agreement.   

  
6.6.4 Education - This application (0331/2018) for 40 dwellings is a partial re-plan and will replace 20 

dwellings previously consented under the reserved matters 0435/2015 with 40 dwellings. The net 
increase of 20 additional dwellings increases the total number of dwellings on the Anker Valley site 
to 555 dwellings. The additional 20 dwellings that will be provided on this site will generate 6 primary 
school places; using cost multipliers, we would seek £66,186.00 to provide the additional required 
primary school places (6 x £11,031 = £66,186.00). Crucially, these places are in addition to the 
places that will be generated by the current scheduled 535 dwellings on this site, and for which we 
have secured a contribution proportional to the 535 dwellings scheduled. We would therefore 
consider the provision of an additional 20 dwellings in this location to generate a requirement to 
provide an additional 6 primary school places, and consider the request for primary education 
contribution of £66,186.00 to be necessary, directly related to the development and fair and 
reasonable in scale and kind to the development. These contributions would be used at Ashcroft 
Infant School/Lark Hall Infant or Flaxhill Junior School. 

 
6.6.5 Sports Provision - The main needs identified within Tamworth are for the provision of a new leisure 

centre and the provision of artificial grass pitches (AGP). This provision will be provided by previous 
obligations, however since the adoption of the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) this provision 
could be funded through the CIL contributions.  

    
6.6.6 Highways - It is considered that the previously agreed development will contribute financially to local 

junction and the Upper Gungate Corridor improvements. To ensure that the additional dwellings 
have been mitigated in terms of highways the original obligations in respect of highway 
improvements would have to be linked to this scheme to ensure the proposal would not have a 
detrimental impact on the highway network. There would also be the requirement for a Travel Plan 
for the scheme as there was on the outline. 

 
6.6.7 CIL - The proposed development would be liable for CIL at the residential rate for 11 or more 

dwellings which is £35 per square metre. Although the proposal would only lead to a net increase of 
20 dwellings, the buildings to be replaced are not currently in existence on the site. As there is no 
provision within the CIL regulations for this, the proposal would be liable on the floorspace for all 40 
dwellings. CIL information has been submitted giving a total floorspace for the development as 
2,836sqm. Based on this figure, the total CIL liability for the development is likely to be in the region 
of £99,260. 

 
7 Conclusion 
 
7.1 The application seeks full planning permission for the erection of 40 dwellings, an increase of 20 

dwellings above the original outline planning permission. The principle is considered to be 
acceptable as the site is allocated under Policy HG2 of the Local Plan for residential development 
which indicates that the site will provide at least 535 dwellings. The delivery of new housing 
developments to meet local need and demand and the maintenance of a 5 year housing land supply 
are key components in achieving sustainable development, and as such the principle of developing 
the site is supported by the NPPF.   

 
7.2 The impact of the development on the local highway network is key to determining whether the 

additional impact of the development at the scale proposed is acceptable. Following detailed 
consideration of the application by the County Highway Authority subject to conditions and tying the 
original obligations in respect of highway improvements the proposal would not have a detrimental 
impact on the highway network.  Consequently it is considered that the proposal would comply with 
Policy HG2 and SU2 of the Local Plan and the provisions of the NPPF.    

 
7.3 It is considered that the additional dwellings details of layout, landscaping, scale and appearance of 

this part of the development still meet with design of the original outline and subsequent reserved 
matters application in terms of the position of the dwellings, their massing and overall design. The 
dwellings proposed are of a standardised suburban design, with small variations thought the defined 

Page 19



character areas. The scale of the dwellings is between 2 storeys high with roof pitches designed to 
reflect the traditional local vernacular. In terms of scale the dwellings are considered to be 
appropriate. 

 
7.4 It is considered that the scale and appearance of the development is in keeping with the character of 

the area and is of a high quality in accordance with the requirements of the policy EN5 of the 
Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031.  

 
7.5 Overall, the development of this site is considered to be acceptable and in general terms accords 

with the overall provisions of the NPPF and Policies HG2, HG4, HG5, HG6, EN1, EN3, EN4, EN5, 
SU1, SU2 and, SU4 of the Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 

 
8 Recommendation 
 

1. Approval subject to the conditions outlined below and the entering into a suitable 
Section 106 Agreement in accordance with the requirements outlined in this report.  

 
2. If the Section 106 Agreement has not been signed before the expiration of any agreed 

extension of time then powers are delegated to Officers to refuse permission based on 
the unacceptability of the development without the required contributions and 
undertakings as outlined in this report.  

 
Conditions / Reasons 

 
1. The development shall be started within three years of the date of this permission.  
 
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended by 
Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.  
 
2. The development hereby approved shall only be carried out in accordance with the following 

drawings and documents. 
  

Drawing(s) Reference(s) 
Planning Layout Planning Layout 1000J 

Block Plan ANK/PS/100-76 
Location Plan ANK/PS/100-75 

Landscaping AV-LAM-01 Rev A 
Housetype Pack The Blacksmith Elevations and Floor plans 

The Potter Elevations and Floor plans 
S02+ 226 
SO2+ 625 
SO14 – 226 
The Tailor Elevations and Floor plans 
The Thatcher Elevations and Floor plans 
The Turner Elevations and Floor plans 
Single garage 
Two Car garage 

 
Materials AV-MAT-01 Rev A 

 
Reason: To define this permission. 

 
3. Prior to the occupation of any permitted dwelling the parking and turning areas for that 
dwelling shall be provided. The parking and turning areas shall thereafter be retained at all times for 
their designated purposes.  
 
Reason: In the interests of Highway Safety as recommended by the Highway Authority in 
accordance with Policies EN5 and SU2 of the Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 

 
4. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping and 
boundary treatment approved shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding season following 
the occupation of the buildings or the completion of the development, whichever is the sooner; and 

Page 20



any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the development die, are 
removed, or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season 
with others of a similar size and species, unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent 
to any variation.  
 
Reason: In the interests of the setting and visual appearance of the development, and in 
accordance with Policy EN5 Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 

 
5. Notwithstanding the provisions of Class A of Schedule 2 Part 2 of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking or re-enacting that 
Order), no walls, fences or other means of enclosure shall be erected forward of the principal 
elevations of dwellings, or boundary walls or fences to those dwellings, except as authorised under 
the submitted application, without the prior grant of planning permission on an application made in 
that regard to the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: In order to maintain the character of streets and public spaces as secured under the plans 
hereby approved in accordance with Policy EN5 Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 

 
6. Notwithstanding the provisions of Class A of Schedule 2 Part 1 of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking or re-enacting that 
Order), the garages indicated on the approved plans shall be retained for the parking of motor 
vehicles and cycles. They shall at no time be converted to living accommodation without the prior 
express permission of the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: In the interests of Highway Safety as recommended by the Highway Authority in 
accordance with Policies EN5 and SU2 of the Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 

 
7. Notwithstanding the submitted details no development shall commence until details of the 
boundary treatment has been submitted and approved in writing. The development hereby approved 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

 
Reason: In order to maintain the character of streets and public spaces as secured under the plans 
hereby approved in accordance with Policy EN5 Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 
 
8. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the surface water 
drainage scheme approved under application 0105/2014 condition 13, the flood rsik addendum and 
submitted drainage strategy. The scheme shall subsequently be implemented in accordance with 
the approved details before the development is completed. The scheme shall be fully implemented 
and subsequently maintained, in accordance with the timing arrangements embodied within the 
scheme, or within any other period as may subsequently be agreed, in writing, by the local planning 
authority.  
 
Reason: As recommended by the Environment Agency to reduce the risk flooding elsewhere, to limit 
the rate of surface water discharge from the developed site and reduce flood risk elsewhere, and to 
prevent flooding by ensuring satisfactory disposal of surface water from the site in accordance with 
the provisions of the NPPF 
 
9. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
Construction Management Plan (CMP) 0105/2014 condition 18. The development shall be 
implemented in accordance with the approved details.  
 
Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the area and as recommended by the Highway Agency 
and the Highway Authority to ensure the A5 Trunk Road / M42 Motorway and local highway network 
continues to serve their purpose as part of the transport system in accordance with Section 10 (2) of 
the Highways Act 1980 and Policies SU2 and HG2 adopted Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031.  
 
10. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) 0105/2014 condition 19. The development 
shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details.  
 
Reason: In the interests of nature conservation in accordance with the provisions of the NPPF. 
 
 

Page 21



 
Proposed layout  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 22



Proposed northern 
layout

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Proposed southern layout 

Page 23



 

 

Page 24



 
Application Number:  0480/2018 
 
Development:  11 new dwellings (Number 35 Wigginton Road to be demolished) 
 
Location:  35 Wigginton Road, Tamworth, Staffordshire, B79 8RL 
 

 
1. Description of Proposal 
 
1.1 The application proposes the development of the site through the erection of 11 new dwellings, 

comprised of, 3 pairs of semi-detached dwellings, and 5 detached dwellings (5 two bed dwellings, 4 
three bed dwellings, and 2 four bed dwellings). 

 
1.2 Vehicular access to the site is from the east via Wigginton Road, with vehicular and pedestrian 

access in to the residential development, as shown on location plan below. The vehicular access to 
the site is proposed by the demolition of the 35 Wigginton Road, which is a semi-detached property. 
The dwellings are sited in open space which currently forms the rear garden of 35 Wigginton Road.  

 
1.3 The following documents have been submitted in support of the application (all are available for 

inspection on the Council’s website at www.tamworth.gov.uk):  
 

 Design and Access Statement 
 Ground Investigation Report 
 Drainage Strategy – Flood Risk 
 Tree Protection Plan: 18.1404.002 
 Landscape Proposals: 18.1404.001 
 Swept Path: F18120/01 
 Details regarding 33 Wigginton Road: 3010 
 Traffic Management Plan/Construction Method Statement 

 
1.4 This application is a resubmission of an application (0311/2018) following a previous refusal on the 

2nd October by Planning Committee on the following grounds:  
The proposed housing mix of the development, four 2 bedroomed, four 3 bedroomed and three 4 
bedroomed properties, would be contrary to policy HG5 Housing Mix of the adopted Tamworth Local 
Plan 2006-2031. 
 

1.5 The application site is located off Wigginton Road, one of the main arterial routes though Tamworth. 
The site is currently the rear garden of 35 Wigginton Road. The site borders Flax Hill Junior 
Academy playing field to the north and three streets of residential dwellings; Wigginton Road to the 
east, Balmoral Close to the south and Kensington Drive to the west (as shown on location plan 
below). 

  

Page 25



 
1.6 Location Plan 

 
 
 
2. Policies 
 
2.1 Local Plan Policies  
 

SS1  - The Spatial Strategy for Tamworth 
SS2 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
HG1 – Housing  
HG4 – Affordable Housing 
HG5 – Housing Mix 
HG6 – Housing Density 
EN4 – Protecting and Enhancing Biodiversity 
EN5 – Design and New Development 
SU4 – Flood risk and Water Manbagement 
SU7 – Sport and Recreation 
IM1 – Infrastructure and Developer Contributions 
Appendix A – Housing Trajectory 
Appendix C – Car Parking Standard 

 
3. Site History 
 

0311/2018: 11 new dwellings (Number 35 Wigginton Road to be demolished): Refused 2nd October 
2018 
 

4. Consultation Responses 
 
4.1 Whilst every effort has been made to accurately summarise the responses received, full copies of 

the representations received are available to view at www.tamworth.gov.uk. The consultation 
responses comments are précised if conditions are proposed these are included within the 
conditions at the end of the report unless stated otherwise. 

 
4.2 Severn Trent Water Ltd 
 
 No objections to the proposals subject to the conditions requiring details of drainage details 
 
4.3  Staffordshire County Council (Flood Risk Management) 
 
 No objection subject to conditions 
 

E

I

I

I

I
I

I
I

I I
I

I

II

I

I

I

II
I
I
I

I

I

I

I

I
I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I
I

I

I I
I

I
II

II
I

I

II

I

I

I

I
I

I
II
I

I
I

II
I

I I I

I
II

T

I I I I

I

I

I

I

I
IIIIIII

I

I

I

IIII

I

I

I

I
I
I
I

I
I
I
I

I I I

I
I
I
I
I
I

IIIIIIIII

I

I
I
I

54

50

46

40

El Sub Sta

78

66

60

33
43

53

61

10

12
1114

13

PERRY CROFTS

89.3m

8
0

W
IG

G
IN

T
O

N
 R

O
A

D

KE
N

SIN
G

TO
N

 D
R

IVE

BALM
O

R
AL C

LO
SE

St E
ditha's C

ourt

1 to 25

222

24

37

30

2
8

12

1 7
15 19

16
26

10

H
ig

h
gr

o
ve

 C
lo

se

1
5

1
4

S
an

d
ri n

g
h a

m
 C

ou
r t

Page 26



4.4 Staffordshire County Council (Highways) 
 

No objections subject to standard conditions, in respect of access, parking, turning areas, visibility 
splays, construction management and requiring that garages be retained for parking.  
 

4.5 Staffordshire County Council (School Organisation) 
 

No requirement for education contributions 
 
4.6 Staffordshire Fire and Rescue 
 

No objection, recommend sprinkler system 
 
4.7 Tamworth Borough Council (Development Plan) 
 
 No objections to the scheme 
 
4.8 Tamworth Borough Council (Environmental Health) 

No objections satisfied with the Ground Investigation Report 

4.9 Tamworth Borough Council Street Scene/Open Space 
 
 Need to condition Tree Impact Assessment, Tree Management Scheme  
 
4.10 Tamworth & Lichfield Joint Waste Services 
 

There are no objections to the development. Responded with standard advice regarding refuse 
requirements. 

 
5. Representations  
 
5.1 Site notice erected, press notice placed and adjoining properties consulted – 5 objections/comments 

received. Issues raised were: 
   

 Loss of privacy and overlooking 
 Loss of sunlight/daylight 
 Significant ground level difference 
 Access onto Wigginton Road 
 Potential access onto Balmoral Close 
 Party Wall issues 
 Highway safety: traffic, parking, pedestrian safety, road safety 
 Loss of 35 Wigginton Road 
 Street lighting placement 

 
6. Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
6.1 Due regard, where relevant, has been taken to the Tamworth Borough Council’s equality duty as 

contained within the Equalities Act 2010. The authority has had due regard to the public sector 
equality duty (PSED).  Under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, a public authority must in the 
exercised of its functions, have due regard to the interests and needs of those sharing the protected 
characteristics under the Act, such as age, gender, disability and race. This proposal has no impact 
on such protected characteristics. 

 
6.2 There may be implications under Article 8 and Article 1 of the First Protocol of the Human Rights 

Act, regarding the right of respect for a person’s private and family life and home, and to the 
peaceful enjoyment of possessions.  However, these issues have been taken into account in the 
determination of this application. 

 
7. Planning Considerations 
 

The main considerations of this application are: 

Page 27



 
 Principle of development 
 Housing Mix and Affordable Housing 
 Layout and design 
 Impact upon residential amenity 
 Access and highway safety 
 Planning Obligations 
 Other matters 

 
7.1 Principle of development 
 
7.1.1 The starting point in determining the acceptability of development proposals is the Local Plan, where 

the policies are consistent with the NPPF. The application site is designated within the adopted 
Local Plan as playing field and so policy SU7 Sport and Recreation applies. However on closer 
inspection, the site does not appear to be part of the school playing field or a playing field in its own 
right. Officers consider limited weight should be attributed to this playing field designation. Policy 
HG1 is therefore the most relevant local policy in assessing residential development within the 
Borough which supports residential development within the urban area of the Borough. This is 
considered to reflect the presumption in favour of sustainable development contained within the 
NPPF because development within the urban area of Tamworth is in general terms sustainable. 
This is as a result of access to sustainable modes of transport and access to relevant services and 
amenities within the Borough. Therefore it is considered that policy HG1 is consistent with the 
NPPF. The application site is located wholly within the urban area of Tamworth, as defined on the 
proposals map. The site itself is located within walking distance of the town centre and local 
shopping facilities the site is therefore appropriate in terms of sustainability policy guidelines.  

 
7.2 Housing Mix and Affordable Housing 
 
7.2.1 Policy HG5 (Housing Mix) of the adopted Local Plan states that proposals for housing development 

should achieve the following mix of units: 
 4% 1-bed units 
 42% 2-bed units 
 39% 3-bed units 
 15% 4 or more-bed units 
The proposal will provide 11 dwellings would consist of 5 x 2 bed, 4 x 3 bed and 2 x 4 bed dwellings 
which is as close as possible to HG5 and compliant with it and therefore addresses the reason for 
refusal from the previous application (as the table below indicates). This proposed mix is 
substantially in accordance with the mix set out in the Local Plan, and has been provided by 
changing the 4 bedroomed dwellings to a 2 bedroomed dwelling. 

 
 

Size of 
properties 

Previous refused 
mix (0311/2018) 

Overall proposed mix 
(0480/2018)  

Policy compliant 
mix 

Overall 
proposed mix 
(rounded up) 

1 bedrooms 0 0 4% 0 - 0.44 dwelling
2 bedrooms 4 5 42% 5 - 4.62 dwelling
3 bedrooms 4 4 39% 4 - 4.29 dwelling
4 bedrooms  3 2 15% 2 -1.65 dwelling 
 11 dwellings 11 dwellings 100% 11 dwellings 

 
 

7.2.2 Local Plan policy HG4 (Affordable Housing) states that new residential development involving 10 or 
more dwellings (gross) should provide 20% affordable dwellings on site. The proposed development 
would include two affordable units and officers are therefore satisfied that this would be in 
accordance with the Local Plan policy. The applicant has indicated that they intend to provide 2 
discounted market sales housing 2 bed dwellings which would have a 20% reduction on the market 
value. The dwellings would need to be subject to occupancy criteria ensuring that priority is given to 
residents of Tamworth. This would include provisions ensuring that the housing remains at a 
discount for future eligible households. The Borough’s Housing Strategy team are comfortable with 
this approach previously. 
 
 

Page 28



7.3 Layout and design 
 
7.3.1 The appearance of a development is a material planning consideration and in general terms the 

design of a proposal should not adversely impact on the character and appearance of the wider 
street scene. Policy EN5 – Design and New Development states that developments should be of a 
scale, layout, form and massing which conserves or enhances the setting of development and utilize 
materials and overall detailed design which conserves or enhances the context of the development. 
Proposals should respect and where appropriate reflect existing local architectural and historic 
characteristics but without ruling out innovative or contemporary design which is still sympathetic to 
the valued characteristics of an area. 

 
7.3.2 In assessing the siting and layout of the proposal, it is worthwhile noting the constraints that exist to 

developing the site. The site borders Flax Hill Junior Academy playing field to the north and three 
streets of residential dwellings; Wigginton Road to the east, Balmoral Close to the south and 
Kensington Drive to the west. In addition, the existing dwellings in Kensington Drive are approx. 2-
2.5m lower than the site. 

 
7.3.3 The development of the site layout has been influenced by the desire to provide development an 

inward facing, courtyard-style development. This layout secures an inward-facing development due 
to the shape of the site and the proposed long access road off Wigginton Road. This inward-facing 
development enables natural surveillance and creates a sense of place for future residents. The 
development is proposed to be gated in majority. This is with the exception of plots 1, 9, 10 and 11, 
which are outward-facing and provide a focal point when entering the site.  

 
7.3.4 The southern boundary of the site will be defined by an existing established hedgerow to define the 

public and private areas of the site and to help for screening purposes regarding the properties to 
the southern boundary of the site in Balmoral Close. The layout provides an inward-facing courtyard 
development, with more outward-facing development fronting the site. The dwellings are traditional 
two-storey dwellings, which are reflective of the predominant building tradition of the area and whilst 
not architecturally inspiring, are considered to be appropriate within the context of the site.  

 
7.3.5 The application proposes the provision of varying sizes of amenity space for the dwellings, reflective 

of the varying sizes of the dwellings. The level of amenity space provided needs to be assessed in 
relation to the needs of the likely occupiers, which in this case are likely to be small families. Whilst 
the garden sizes vary overall, the sizes and garden lengths are considered appropriate for dwellings 
of this size and provide suitable, secure private amenity space.  

 
7.3.6 At approximately 30 dwelling per hectare (dwellings per hectare), the density of the residential 

element of the site is in line with policy. The need to develop sites within sustainable locations is 
acknowledged in Policy HG6 which seeks to ensure that new residential development should be 
provided at between 30 and 40 dwellings per hectare. The proposed density of the residential 
development is therefore considered to be appropriate for this location. 

 
7.3.7 Overall, it is considered that the layout, appearance, scale and landscaping proposed is such that 

the proposal will improve the character and appearance of the area creating a well-considered and 
designed scheme taking into account the constraints at the site. 

 
7.3.8     It should be noted that there is a Tree Preservation Order on the site, within the rear garden area of 

plot 4. This tree is protected under TPO No.1 2018 and should be maintained in perpetuity unless 
formal written consent from the local planning authority is gained. Also, it is considered as part of the 
proposal the hedge along the southern boundary should be retained, a condition is proposed to 
ensure that the hedge is retained and that the tree is protected during/following construction.  

 
7.4 Impact upon residential amenity 
 
7.4.1 Policy EN5 – Design and New Development states that developments will be expected to minimise 

or mitigate environmental impacts for the benefit of existing and prospective occupants of 
neighbouring land. Such impacts may include loss of light, privacy or security or unacceptable noise, 
pollution, flooding or sense of enclosure. Impact upon neighbours has been assessed, particularly 
with regards to existing properties bordering the site upon Wigginton Road, Balmoral Close and 
Kensington Drive. The greatest impact would be upon properties in Kensington Drive, Balmoral 
Close, and 33 Wigginton Road. The existing hedgerow will be retained on the southern boundary of 
the site, protecting the amenity and privacy of residents in Balmoral Close. There is a significant 

Page 29



ground level difference on site, with properties in Kensington Drive approximately 2-2.5m lower than 
the western part of the site. Therefore, this increases potential for privacy and     sunlight/daylight 
issues. A 2m fence will be conditioned upon approval to help protect the amenity and privacy with 
regards to residents of Kensington Drive for this reason. In addition, amended plans were received, 
to show separation distances of 23m achieved with regards to existing properties on Kensington 
Drive, and 15m with regards to existing properties on Balmoral Close. Plots 9 and 10 were also 
amended to help to achieve a better relationship with regards to existing properties in Balmoral 
Close. Regarding 33 Wigginton Road, this property is currently semi-detached and attached to 35 
Wigginton Road. 35 Wigginton Road is proposed to be demolished, to create the access for the 
proposed development.  

 
7.5 Access and highway safety 
 
7.5.1 Policy SU2 and EN5 require development proposals to have particular regard to highway safety, 

service requirements and the capacity of the local road network and the adopted parking standards 
set out in Appendix C of the Local Plan. During the process of the application SCC highways were 
consulted and had previously had concerns in terms of visibility splays, turning and the provision of 
a bin-pull up area. All these issues were resolved in that the development will not lead to a 
detrimental impact on highway safety. It is agreed that visibility splays can be provided at the 
entrance to the site. It is also agreed that there is sufficient turning within the scheme for larger 
vehicles to turn.   

 
7.5.2 The proposal is not considered to impact on the functioning of any of the surrounding road junctions 

or on the capacity of local roads. The site is located within close proximity to the town centre and 
alternative modes of transport to the private car and is considered to be a sustainable location. 
Sufficient space is provided within the site to allow for adequate servicing, and refuse collection. The 
main consideration in terms of highway safety is therefore whether sufficient car parking exists or 
can be provided for the proposed use. 

 
7.6 Planning Obligations 
 
7.6.1 Local Plan policy HG4 (Affordable Housing) states that new residential development involving 10 or 

more dwellings (gross) should provide 20% affordable dwellings on site. The proposed development 
has been amended to include 20% affordable dwellings and this complies with the Council’s Local 
Plan Requirement of 20%. Two properties are proposed to be affordable plots 1 and 11, which is 2 
bedroomed properties. At present the applicant is trying to engage with Housing Associations to 
manage these properties, which will be discounted market value (20% below market value). As this 
is the only planning obligation a planning condition is proposed which will ensure that affordable 
housing is managed in perpetuity. 

 
7.6.2 No contributions have been requested from Staffordshire County Schools Organisation. This 

development falls within the catchments of Lark Hall Infant School, Flax Hill Junior Academy and 
Landau Forte Academy QEMS. The development is scheduled to provide 11 dwellings. Excluding 
the 1 demolition, a development of 10 houses could add 3 pupils at Primary and 1 pupil at 
Secondary. In line with the current Education Planning Obligations Policy, including accounting for 
any demolitions, the threshold on residential developments is 10 or more dwellings, or a site greater 
than 0.2 hectares. This development falls under the current threshold, and therefore no education 
contribution is requested for this application.  

 
7.6.3 The proposed development is CIL liable, as it exceeds 2 dwellings and is more than 100 sq. m, and 

a CIL form has been completed.  The Tamworth Borough Council Community Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL) Charging Schedule came into force on 01 August 2018 and applies to all CIL liable 
development permitted in the Borough beyond that date. The amount of CIL that any development is 
liable for is calculated on a pounds per square metre basis and applies to new floorspace. Therefore 
the exact amount of CIL for which the proposed development would be liable can only be calculated 
once the total proposed floorspace is known. However, on the assumption that the current proposal 
would be similar in floorspace to the previous proposal, the development would likely attract a CIL 
liability in the region of £57,000 before any eligible exemptions are applied. 

 
7.6.4 The proposed development would include two affordable units and am therefore satisfied that this 

would not be contrary to the Local Plan policy. The applicant should be expected to enter into a 
s106 agreement to secure the provision of the affordable units on site. The units may be eligible for 

Page 30



an exemption from CIL (see below) provided that they meet the criteria set out in part 6 of the 
Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended). 

  
7.7 Other matters  
 
7.7.1 Waste 
 

Following discussions with the applicant and Waste Services bin collection is to be provided within 
the site, mainly on plot but with a small collection point to the side of Plot 2. The main internal 
access road is of a sufficient width and design in order to be able to accommodate and allow a 
refuse vehicle to turn. In addition, the applicant has confirmed their intention to enter into an 
agreement in order to indemnify the Council for any damage to the internal road surface, or secure a 
private refuse collection contract. Details of which can be adequately secured by condition.  

 
7.7.2 Protected species:  
 

Policy EN4 – Protecting and Enhancing Biodiversity requires development to incorporate the 
planting of native tree species where appropriate to the site and states that developments that would 
involve the removal of any tree, woodland or hedgerow, which contributes significantly to its setting, 
local landscape character or it surroundings, will be resisted unless the wider benefits of the 
development are sufficient to offset the loss and cannot be avoided by appropriate siting or design. 
Where removal is justified and unavoidable, suitable and appropriate mitigation planting will be 
required to offset the loss of these features. The application proposes the redevelopment of a site 
currently completely laid in tarmac, and as such there is little areas of ecological interest within the 
site.  The site has little “ecological value” other than the tree and hedgerows within the scheme 
which will be conditioned. Representations have been raised in respect of bats in the area, it is 
considered there is sufficient justification to require the provision of bat boxes within the scheme.  

 
7.7.3 Drainage:  
 

The existing site is a garden area, the proposal through development will increase the surface run-
off and therefore the applicants have submitted a Flood Risk Assessment. This indicates flood 
attenuation which is considered acceptable.  

 
7.8 Conclusion  
 
7.8.1 The development of this site for residential purposes is considered to be acceptable in principle, 

developing a site in a sustainable location. The layout and built form of the development as 
amended is considered to enhance both the character and appearance of the area, and would not 
significantly detrimentally impact upon the amenity of nearby residents and would not be detrimental 
to highway safety. The development is considered to comply with policies HG1, HG4, HG5, HG6, 
EN4, EN5 and IM1 of the adopted Local Plan 2006-2031. The application is recommended for 
approval subject to conditions.  

 
8 Recommendation 
 

 
Approval subject to the conditions outlined below  
 

 
Conditions/Reasons 

 
1.  The development shall be started within three years of the date of this permission.  

 
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended by 
Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004). 
 

2.  The development hereby permitted shall only be carried out in accordance with the application form, 
the supporting letter and drawing numbers: 
 
Site location plan: 3000 
Layout: 3001I 

Page 31



House types: 
3008 
3003B 
3004A 
3002B 
3006C 
3005C 
3007G 
3009 
Tree Protection Plan: 18.1404.002 
Landscape Proposals: 18.1404.001 
Swept Path: F18120/01 
Details regarding 33 Wigginton Road: 3010 
Traffic Management Plan/Construction Method Statement 
Ground Investigation Report 
Design and Access Statement 
Flood Risk Assessment 

 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: To define the permission. 

 
3.  The development shall be carried out in accordance with the details regarding 33 Wigginton Road 

3010. The approved details shall be carried out prior to the occupation of any dwelling.  
 
Reason:  In the interests of the visual appearance of the development in accordance with policy 
EN5: Design of New Development as set out in the Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 

 
4 Notwithstanding the submitted details prior to the commencement of development details of all 

walls, gates, fences and other means of enclosure, which shall include a 2.0 metre high fence along 
the western boundary shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing. 
The approved details of walls, gates, fences and other means of enclosure shall be erected prior to 
the occupation of the dwellings to which they relate.  
 
Reason: In the interests of the visual appearance of the development, high safety and to secure the 
privacy of the residents in accordance with policy EN5: Design of New Development as set out in 
the Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 

 
5.  Notwithstanding the submitted details no development shall take place including any works of 

demolition, until a Construction Method Statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The approved Statement shall be adhered to throughout the 
construction period. The statement shall provide for:- 
• A site compound with associated temporary buildings 
• The parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors 
• Times of deliveries including details of loading and unloading of plant and materials 
• Storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development 
• Duration of works 
• Wheel wash facilities 
• Appropriate routing agreement using the most appropriate access route 

 
Reason: In the interests of the highway safety and ecology to comply with policy SU2 and EN4 of 
the adopted Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 

 
6 The development shall not begin until a scheme for the provision of affordable housing as part of the 

development has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
affordable housing shall be provided in accordance with the approved scheme and shall meet the 
definition of affordable housing in Annex 2 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2018 or any 
future guidance that replaces it. The scheme shall include: 

  
(i) the numbers, type, tenure and location on the site of the affordable housing provision to be made, 
which shall consist of not less than 20% of housing units/bed spaces;  
(ii) the timing of the construction of the affordable housing and its phasing in relation to the 
occupancy of the market housing;  

Page 32



(iii) the arrangements for the transfer of the affordable housing to an affordable housing provider [or 
the management of the affordable housing] (if no RSL involved);  
(iv) the arrangements to ensure that such provision is affordable for both first and subsequent 
occupiers of the affordable housing; and  
(v) the occupancy criteria to be used for determining the identity of occupiers of the affordable 
housing and the means by which such occupancy criteria shall be enforced.  

 
Reason: In the interests of securing affordable housing, having regard to Policy HG4 of the adopted 
Tamworth Local Plan and the definition in Annex 2 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2018. 

 
7.  Notwithstanding the submitted details prior to the commencement of the development hereby 

approved details of all materials, including recessed windows and the provision of 3 bat bricks, to be 
used in the construction of the external surfaces of the development shall be submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing. 

  
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory external appearance to the development in accordance with policy 
EN5: Design of New Development as set out in the Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 

 
8.  Notwithstanding the submitted details no development shall commence until an arboricultural impact 

assessment including a tree protection plan and construction method statement protecting trees 
covered by TPO No 1 2018 and the protection of the hedge along the southern boundary of the 
scheme has been submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the approved arboricultural 
impact assessment unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.                                            
 
Reason: In the interests of the setting and visual appearance of the development in accordance with 
policy EN4: Protecting and Enhancing Biodiversity as set out in the Tamworth Local Plan 2006-
2031. 

 
9.  The development permitted by this planning permission shall only be carried out in accordance with 

the approved Flood Risk Assessment (FRA)/Drainage Strategy dated September 2018 and the 
following mitigation measures detailed within the FRA: 

  
- Limiting the surface water run-off generated by the site to a maximum of 5l/s so that it will not 
exceed the run-off from the undeveloped site and not increase the risk of flooding off-site.  
- Provision of an appropriate calculated volume of attenuation flood storage on the site to a 100year 
+ climate change standard.  
- Finished floor levels are set no lower than 150mm above local ground level.  
 
Reason: To prevent the increased risk of flooding; to improve and protect water quality, to improve 
habitat and amenity and to ensure the future maintenance of the sustainable drainage structures in 
accordance with Policy SU4 of the Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031.   

 
10.  Prior to the occupation of the dwellings hereby approved a full landscaping scheme (incorporating 

soft and hard landscaping features including surfacing and drainage of the access and parking 
areas and fences and means of enclosure for the site) which includes the retention of the hedge 
along the southern boundary shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The development shall only be carried out in accordance with the approved details.  
 
Reason: In the interests of the setting, visual appearance of the development and surrounding area 
in accordance with Polices EN4 and EN5 of the Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 

11.  All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping and boundary 
treatment approved shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding season following the 
occupation of the buildings or the completion of the development, whichever is the sooner; and any 
trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the development die, are 
removed, or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season 
with others of a similar size and species, unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent 
to any variation.  

Reason: In the interests of the setting and visual appearance of the development, and in accordance 
with Policies EN4 and EN5 of the Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 

Page 33



12.  Prior to the first occupation of the dwellings hereby approved development a landscape 
management plan, including long term design objectives, management responsibilities and 
maintenance schedules for all landscape areas, proposed maintenance regime for tree covered by 
TPO No 1 2018 and hedge along the southern boundary, private drives and open space shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority before occupation of the 
development or any phase of the development, whichever is the sooner, for its permitted use. The 
landscape management plan shall be carried out as approved.  

Reason: In the interests of the visual appearance of the area and to ensure appropriate 
maintenance of the site in accordance with Policies EN4 and EN5 of the Tamworth Local Plan 2006-
2031.  

13.  The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until the parking and turning areas 
have been provided in accordance with the approved plans and shall thereafter be retained for the 
life of the development. 

 
Reason: In the interests of the highway safety and to comply with policy SU2 of the adopted 
Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031 

 
14.  The garages indicated on the approved plans shall be retained for the parking of motor vehicles and 

cycles. They shall at no time be converted to living accommodation without the prior express 
permission of the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: In the interests of the highway safety and to comply with policy SU2 of the adopted 
Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 

 
15.  The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until the visibility splays of 2.4 

metres by 43 metres have been provided. The visibility splay shall thereafter be kept free of all 
obstructions to visibility over a height of 600 mm above the adjacent carriageway level. 

 
Reason: In the interests of the highway safety and to comply with policy SU2 of the adopted 
Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031.  

 
16.  Notwithstanding the provisions of Classes A, B, C, D and E of Schedule 2 Part 1 and Schedule 2 

Part 2 of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any 
order revoking or re-enacting that Order), no extensions including roof alterations or walls/fences or 
any other means of enclosure shall be erected without the prior express permission of the Local 
Planning Authority.  

 
Reason: In the interests of Highway Safety and to ensure existing residential properties are not 
adversely effected and adequate amenity space for the proposed dwellings in accordance with 
Policies EN5 and SU2 of the Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 

17.  The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted 
contamination of land report.  

Reason: To protect the health of future occupiers of the site from any possible effects of 
contaminated land, in accordance with policy SU5 of the adopted Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031.  

18.  Prior to the commencement of development details of the finished floor levels of the proposed 
properties, which shall include the adjacent existing dwelling shall be submitted and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall only be carried out in accordance 
with the approved details. 

Reason: In the interests of the visual appearance of the area and to protect the amenity/privacy of 
the existing residential properties in accordance with Policies EN5 of the Tamworth Local Plan 2006-
2031.  

  

Page 34



Loc

Site

 

 
 
 

cation Plan 

e Layout 

 

 

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	4 Schedule of Applications
	Generic agenda front page, intro and contents
	0331.2018 Anker Valley - Full Application additional 20 dwellings FINAL
	0480-2018 35 Wigginton Road report FINAL


